Diverse Educator Retention and Recruitment Strategies for Educator Preparation Programs

Lois Kimmel, Beth Howard-Brown

JANUARY 2024



Contents

| Introduction | 1 |
|---|----|
| Selected Strategies for Recruiting and Retaining Candidates of Color | 5 |
| Strategies for increasing interest in the profession among high schoolers | |
| Strategies for improving applications and admissions processes | 7 |
| Strategies for providing financial supports | 8 |
| Strategies for improving student academic and campus experience | 8 |
| Strategies for improving licensure and placement supports | 11 |
| Conclusion | 12 |
| Bibliography | 13 |
| Appendix: Selected Strategy Reflection Notetaking Tool | 21 |
| | |
| Exhibits | |
| | |
| Exhibit 1. Talent Development Framework | 2 |
| Exhibit 2 Preservice Teacher Preparation Development Pineline | 2 |

Introduction

The lack of ethnoracial diversity in the teacher workforce is a persistent issue nationally and in Illinois. Despite significant efforts to diversify the teaching profession, the number of teachers of color¹ remains disproportionately low overall compared to the number of students of color. On average, 17% of educators in Illinois identify as a person of color despite almost 50% of students identifying as persons of color (U.S. Department of Education, 2017). The lack of racial or ethnoracial parity between students and teachers is associated with the systematic firing of Black educators in the aftermath of Brown v. Board of Education (Fenwick, 2022).

Furthermore, approximately 27% of newly registered undergraduate students pursuing teaching degrees in Illinois in 2019 were individuals from diverse racial and ethnic backgrounds. However, during the same year, only 18% of undergraduate students who successfully completed their education programs identified as people of color (Illinois Educator Preparation Profile, n.d.). These figures highlight a potential area for enhancement in terms of attracting and retaining candidates of color in educator preparation programs (EPPs).

The underrepresentation of teachers of color has numerous negative consequences, including lower student achievement and higher dropout rates for students of color (Villegas & Irvine, 2010). Having a same-race teacher is associated with increased test scores (Dee, 2004; Egalite et al., 2015; Yarnell & Bohrnstedt, 2018), high school retention (Lindsay & Hart, 2017), and college matriculation (Gershenson et al., 2018). Evidence suggests that the race-matching effects of teachers are also concentrated among Black male students and in high-poverty areas (Gershenson et al., 2021). In addition to the benefits of student-teacher race matching, research has shown that all students benefit from having teachers of color (Education Trust — New York, 2017). As a result, the importance of increasing teacher diversity and supporting candidates of color is increasingly recognized by EPPs.

Diversifying the teacher workforce takes a comprehensive approach that spans the teacher career continuum. The teachers of color workforce could be expanded at multiple points across the educator talent development framework (Exhibit 1) — from attracting students; preparing candidates; and developing, supporting, and retaining teachers. Research has shown that some student-teacher race matching disparities have to do with retention, but other studies have shown that the early stages of the pipeline are responsible in large measure for the lack of teacher diversity (Goldhaber & Mizrav, 2022). Candidates of color face unique challenges in EPPs, such as racial discrimination, lack of culturally responsive curriculum, and inadequate mentoring and support. Research has also shown that EPPs can make changes that can improve

¹ We use terms "teachers of color" and "students of color" to refer to ethnoracial groups who are not White, but rather are, but not limited to, Black, Latinx, Hispanic, Asian American, Native American, Indigenous, Pacific Islander.

the recruitment and retention of candidates of color. In other words, **EPPs are key players in diversifying the teacher workforce.**

Exhibit 1. Talent Development Framework



Exhibit 2. Preservice Teacher Preparation Development Pipeline



Several key milestones must be met as candidates prepare to become teachers. Each milestone offers the opportunity for EPPs to implement specific strategies to recruit, retain, and support candidates of colors through the program. Exhibit 2 illustrates the key points where EPPs can implement strategies to improve candidate recruitment and retention. For most teachers, interest in being a teacher may be expressed later in the college process, as most young adults do not have their career planned out when going to college. For others, the challenge might be graduating and passing licensure exams. At each milestone in the preservice teacher preparation development pipeline, EPPs can implement specific strategies to recruit and retain candidates of color.

This document explores strategies in the teacher preparation pipeline for supporting candidates of color in EPPs. It reviews evidence-based practices for recruiting and retaining candidates of color in teacher preparation programs and the implications of these practices for improving diversity in the teaching workforce in Illinois. This resource also includes examples from EPPs around the country that are taking steps to recruit and retain teacher candidates of color and to increase diversity and inclusivity in the teaching profession.

Resource Highlight: Roadmap for Educator Preparation Reform

EPPs face challenges when it comes to undertaking reform. To be successful, change within EPPs has to happen at the system level and at the individual level. The Roadmap for Educator Preparation *Reform* is a planning framework intended to guide and support EPPs to make programmatic reform. The roadmap highlights the major guidelines that EPPs should consider throughout the reform process and provides supporting facilitation guidance, examples, resources, and tools from EPPs that have engaged in and benefited from this process. The roadmap identifies eight steps in the process of educator preparation reform:

- (1) **Engage Key Leaders**: Reform cannot happen without the support of strong leaders. Engaging key leaders early in the EPP reform and continuous improvement process lays a strong foundation for sustainability and helps inform and prepare faculty to participate in the reform efforts and navigate change.
- (2) Facilitate Needs Assessment: Prioritizing content, practices, and processes for program reform requires a systematic and data-driven approach coupled with stakeholder input. Teams must collaborate to examine data from multiple sources to explore needs and assess reform priorities.
- (3) **Determine Program Review Focus:** Before beginning the review process, the team must clearly define the evidence-based practices or frameworks that will be used to review individual programs. Teams should carefully consider all sources of data to achieve consensus about the focus and scope of the program review.
- (4) **Review Programs:** A systematic review of the coursework and clinical experiences within programs can help identify strengths, weaknesses, and opportunities for improved alignment with evidence-based practices and frameworks. A data-driven program review is the foundation for developing a strong action plan for program reform.
- (5) **Develop Action Plan:** Developing an action plan for program reform creates a blueprint to guide implementation efforts and provides clarity on team roles and responsibilities. A strong action plan lays the foundation for structures to promote accountability and continuous improvement.
- (6) **Implement Reforms**: Implementation of the action plan for program reform must be intentional and thoughtful. Building faculty capacity and shared accountability helps create the conditions for long-term success.
- (7) Practice Continuous Improvement: Reform efforts often lose momentum after initial implementation. Creating a continuous improvement cycle helps maintain the work's momentum and sustain program reform over time.
- (8) **Scale Impact:** Scaling impact requires thoughtful planning and intentional partnerships. Documenting successes, challenges, and lessons learned during improvement efforts creates a solid foundation for sustainability and scale-up.

The strategies, examples, and supporting research were collected from a review of online resources and academic journals and Artificial Intelligence software, as well as from consultations with national experts.

This resource is structured as follows:

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Strategies
 - a. Strategies on increasing interest in the profession among high schoolers
 - b. Strategies on improving application and admission processes
 - c. Strategies on providing financial supports
 - d. Strategies on improving student academic and campus experience
 - e. Strategies on improving licensure and placement supports
- 3. Conclusion
- 4. Bibliography
- 5. Appendix: Strategy reflection tool

Selected Strategies for Recruiting and Retaining Candidates of Color Strategies for increasing interest in the profession among high schoolers

1. Partner with high schools that offer dual enrollment for high school students.

Dual enrollment programs, which allow high school students to take college-level courses and earn college credit while still in high school, have been shown to increase college access and success for students of color (Barnett et al., 2013; Hoffman & Nixon, 2018; National Center for Education Statistics, 2014). The benefits of dual enrollment include exposure to college-level academics, increased confidence, tuition cost savings, and college readiness. Research suggests that dual enrollment is associated with the likelihood of a student enrolling in and persisting through college (Britton, 2022). Dual enrollment is not always distributed equitably, so students of color sometimes don't have equitable access and therefore don't reap the benefits of these programs.

A South Carolina program has been engaging high school students since 1986. The South Carolina Center for Educator Recruitment, Retention, and Advancement Teacher Cadet program is heralded as one of the oldest and better-known grow-your-own programs in the nation (Berrigan & Schwartz, 2000). This state-funded program, which is located on the campus of Winthrop University, is committed to recruiting high-achieving, homegrown students. Cultivating teachers for rural areas experiencing shortages is an important aspect of the program. High school students take a dual-credit course taught by a certified teacher that exposes them to the education profession, as well as to problems and critical issues that affect educational quality in our nation's schools. They also get field experiences, reflections, self-assessments, and classroom observations. The Teacher Cadet program aims to cultivate future leaders who will become civically engaged advocates for public education.

2. Support candidates early with precollegiate programs.

Precollegiate programs provide opportunities for high school students from underrepresented backgrounds to explore the teaching profession and gain early exposure to college-level coursework (Lashley et al., 2018). Early college programs can help to increase the number of diverse candidates who pursue careers in teaching (Chapman & MacDonald, 2010; Darling-Hammond et al., 2019). Additionally, precollegiate programs can offer mentorship, tutoring, and other support services to help these students succeed academically and navigate the college admissions process. EPPs can work with local high schools to provide learning opportunities at the college or university for exposure to coursework and experiences.

3. Increase the number of professors of color teaching in educator prep programs.

Faculty of color in EPPs can help underserved students feel represented and connected while also assisting White students in informing their perspectives on racial identities and culturally responsive practices in teaching. Professors of color can help future teachers

Resource Highlight:

Culturally Relevant Education Professional Development Pack created by the Collaboration for Effective Educator Development, Accountability, and Reform (CEEDAR) Center provides learning modules for faculty who are exploring issues of diversity within their university. Module 1 specifically addressing strategies for hiring more faculty of color.

develop confidence in their abilities to meet the challenges of today's multicultural classrooms, support them in finding an affinity for the profession, and provide tested methods for supporting a diverse student population.

Virginia Commonwealth University has developed a comprehensive approach to deliberately prioritize professors of color throughout the hiring process. The strategies outlined in "Strategies for Successfully Recruiting a Diverse Faculty" are applicable across academic fields and can be specifically implemented for professors in EPPs.

These strategies involve incorporating professors of color on hiring committees, recognizing and addressing publication challenges faced by scholars from these communities in esteemed journals, and leveraging racial affinity groups to circulate job postings and enhance outreach efforts.

4. Focus on recruitment and retention of non-traditional students.

Non-traditional students may include older students, career changers, community college students, retired military personnel, or paraprofessionals working in schools. These students bring unique strengths from their lived experiences and past work experiences. Non-traditional students are more likely to be women, belong to ethnoracially diverse groups, and have less educated parents than traditional students (U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, n.d.). Pursuing non-traditional students can enable EPPs to maximize the supply of teachers of color (Villegas & Irvine, 2010). By actively seeking out and supporting the enrollment and success of non-traditional students, EPPs can foster a more inclusive learning environment, promote equity in education, and prepare future educators who are better equipped to meet the diverse needs of students in today's classrooms. Additionally, these students often offer unique insights and real-world experiences that can enrich classroom discussions, enhance cultural competency, and contribute to the overall quality of teacher preparation programs.

Strategies for improving applications and admissions processes

5. Provide information on and guide students through the process of accessing financial aid.

In addition to just offering financial aid, programs must take action to ensure students of color know about the availability, qualifications, and process for accessing the available financial support (Dynarski, 2015). Providing information on and guidance through the financial aid process can raise students' awareness of available resources and increase their confidence in applying for aid, which can lead to higher rates of enrollment and persistence. For example, providing students with personalized assistance in completing the Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA) can increase the likelihood of enrolling in college by 7 percentage points (Bettinger et al., 2012).

The <u>Illinois Student Assistance Commission (ISAC)</u> provides various resources to help students navigate the financial aid process. ISAC provides workshops and online resources to help students and their families understand the FAFSA and complete it accurately and on time. Additionally, ISAC offers free one-on-one financial aid counseling to students and their families to help them understand their options and make informed decisions about their finances. ISAC also provides information on scholarship opportunities and helps students understand the different types of financial aid available, such as grants, scholarships, and loans.

6. Establish articulation agreements with community colleges to ease the transfer process.

Community colleges, which have higher percentages of Black and Latinx students than most four-year institutions, are a source of potential teachers from diverse backgrounds that is often overlooked (Bragg, 2007; Ma & Baum, 2016). Most of the programs offered at community colleges do not lead directly to teacher licensure, but many community colleges offer associate degrees and certificates that prepare students by providing the foundational aspects of teaching. Matriculation from community college will enable students to transfer to four-year institutions prepared to complete their coursework and work toward obtaining a teaching license. It is often hard for community college students to transition to a four-year institution of higher education. Partnerships and articulation agreements can make the process easier and more straightforward.

An innovative collaboration between <u>Hinds Community College and Delta State University</u> in Mississippi has led to the establishment of the 2 Plus 2 Child Development Partnership program. This program enables aspiring educators to begin their higher education journey at a local community college, completing their first two years of coursework, before seamlessly transferring to a four-year educator preparation program at Delta State University.

7. Address barriers in the admissions process.

Given evidence of racial bias in college admissions (Rosinger et al., 2021), strategies for reducing bias can be important for recruiting and retaining candidates who are ethnoracially diverse in EPPs. These might include blind review processes, diversity training for admissions officers, and using holistic admissions criteria that consider a student's entire background and experiences (Espinosa et al., 2011). Furthermore, admissions officers can simplify the application process by providing fee waivers for students of color, firstgeneration college students, and Pell grant recipients or offering tailored support services such as mentoring and academic advising (Harper et al., 2016). Some strategies aimed at making the admissions process more accessible, such as providing early decisions, may help to increase the number of students of color, first-generation college students, and Pell grant recipients on campus (U.S. Department of Education, 2016b).

Strategies for providing financial supports

8. Provide financial assistance to students through stipends, scholarships, and tuition support.

Students of color often face financial barriers in accessing higher education due to the way educational systems are structured (Santos, & Haycock, 2016). The unjust system can result in students from ethnoracially diverse backgrounds, first-generation college students, and Pell grant recipients having to work long hours or take on additional jobs to afford the cost of tuition. These factors can negatively impact their academic success and lead to higher rates of dropping out (Bowen et al., 2009). Providing financial support can help alleviate these financial barriers and allow students from ethnoracially diverse backgrounds to focus on their studies and fully engage in their academic experience. Students who receive need-based scholarships were more likely to persist and graduate than those who do not receive such support, particularly among students of color (Kalamkarian & Johns, 2013). Furthermore, research suggests that financial assistance programs that are tailored to the unique needs of students of color — such as scholarships for students from ethnoracially diverse groups or programs that provide tuition support to students who are the first in their families to attend college — can be particularly effective in increasing retention rates among this population (Jackson & Acker, 2015).

Strategies for improving student academic and campus experience

9. Support collaborations between university admissions and the education department for recruiting purposes.

Education departments and admissions offices can work together to develop priority recruitment strategies and provide support for diverse candidates throughout the

application and admission process. For example, they can offer application fee waivers, host diversity-focused recruitment events, and provide mentorship and advising to help prospective students navigate the application process (Ingersoll et al., 2022). Furthermore, once students are already accepted to the university in general, the Education Department can conduct individualized outreach to encourage students of color to start to take education classes and consider an education major. The largest gap for students is often between being accepted to the university and choosing to major in education (Goldhaber & Mizrav, 2022).

The <u>Academy for Teacher Excellence Program at University of Texas at San Antonio</u> developed a comprehensive recruitment plan to attract Latinx students who were already enrolled at the university to enroll specifically in the EPP (Flores, Clark, Claeys and Villarreal, 2007). The program includes "soliciting referrals from faculty and student service offices, ensuring that program staff were at freshman orientations and other campus events, and disseminating information about the program widely around [the campus] to ensure quick recognition of the work they were doing" (Goe & Roth, 2019, p. 11).

10. Invest in and partner with minority-serving institutions.

Investing time, resources, and energy into developing relationships with historically Black colleges and universities and minority-serving institutions (MSIs) can have a positive effect on the teacher pipeline for states, districts, and schools. MSIs have a long history of preparing educators to teach diverse student populations despite the systemic inequities that they face (Marchitello & Trinidad, 2019). As a more inclusive learning environment for people of color, MSIs provide districts with access to a more ethnoracially diverse teacher pool (Toldson & Pearson, 2019). EPPs with graduate programs can create partnerships with MSIs to build a pipeline of candidates of color.

11. Provide culturally responsive mentoring, close connections with faculty, and holistic advising.

Students who are paired with a mentor are more likely to persist in college — especially first-generation students from low-income backgrounds (Barr & Castleman, 2017; Chamberlain & Parnell, 2022). One randomized control study finds that participating in a mentoring program is associated with a 14 percentage point increase in consistent college enrollment. Mentoring allows for close connections with advisers and faculty, and mentors are associated with higher levels of college retention (Advising Success Network, 2021; Holland et al., 2020). Of course, "one size fits all" mentoring is not as powerful as mentoring that is tailored to meet the unique needs of candidates of color (Region 8 Comprehensive Center Network, 2021).

12. Create affinity groups and peer-to-peer mentoring for students of color.

Affinity groups and peer-to-peer mentoring programs have been shown to increase program retention rates and program completion rates for students of color (McGee & Bentley, 2017; Talbert-Johnson et al., 2018). Affinity groups provide a safe and supportive space for students of color to share experiences, receive support and mentoring, and develop a sense of belonging within the program. Peer-to-peer mentoring programs have been shown to increase academic achievement, engagement, and persistence among students of color (Strayhorn, 2015; Yomtov et al., 2017).

13. Foster an inclusive campus climate to reduce instances of discrimination, bias, and racism.

Research shows that teacher candidates of color often experience racism and discrimination as they participate teacher preparation programs, and these experiences can negatively impact their self-efficacy and ultimately lead to higher rates of attrition from the teaching profession (Grooms et.al., 2021). Conversely, a supportive and inclusive campus climate can lead to greater satisfaction, increased retention rates, and ultimately better outcomes for teacher candidates of color.

For example, the University of Mississippi is working to promote diversity, inclusion, and racial reconciliation. It is making Hate vs. Bias Training mandatory for new officers within the University Police Department and requiring additional diversity training for existing officers. Additional measures include a Welcome Home onboarding program for new employees and the Respect the "M" orientation session for new students to foster a more inclusive campus climate. The university also offers the optional MPower program, which is aimed at cultivating appreciation for university culture, cultural differences, and inclusivity, for first-year students. Consider how you have worked with your diversity officer to implement something similar.

14. Promote a cohort program design model.

Cohort program designs, which involve groups of teacher candidates progressing through their training together, may be particularly effective for recruiting and retaining teachers of color. Cohort programs can create a sense of community among teacher candidates and provide social and emotional support, which may be especially important for candidates from underrepresented backgrounds. In addition, cohort programs can offer opportunities for mentorship and networking, as well as customized coursework and field experiences tailored to the needs and interests of teacher candidates of color (Mauldin et. al, 2022).

15. Embed culturally responsive practices in teacher preparation.

The use of culturally affirming practices by faculty may enable students in EPPs to retain content easily, shift their perspectives on diversity, and improve their performance on licensure tests and exams. A culturally responsive curriculum can validate the struggles of Black teachers, dismantle systemic racism in education, and authentically portray the history of Black educators (Mason et al., 2021). Equipping all teachers — including teachers of color and their White counterparts — with the capacity to implement culturally responsive pedagogy can support students of color in EPPs.

Strategies for improving licensure and placement supports

16. Offer paid student teaching positions.

Teacher candidates of color face financial barriers in accessing teacher preparation programs and are more likely to work part-time or take on additional jobs while student teaching, which can hinder their ability to focus on their training (Carver-Thomas, 2018). Paid student teaching positions can help alleviate these financial burdens and allow candidates of color to fully engage in their training and gain the experience they need to become effective teachers. Additionally, research suggests that teacher candidates of color often face discrimination and cultural mismatches in traditional student teaching placements, which can lead to lower job satisfaction and retention rates (Darling-Hammond et al., 2020). Offering paid student teaching positions can allow candidates of color to choose placements that align with their interests and strengths and increase the likelihood of a positive and successful teaching experience.

17. Establish partnerships to build residencies or registered teacher apprenticeship programs.

Registered teacher apprenticeship programs typically combine classroom teaching experience with academic coursework and mentorship, allowing aspiring teachers to learn and develop their skills while working alongside experienced educators. Apprentices in these programs are registered with a state or

Resource Highlight:

Take a Seat at the Table describes the role of EPPs in teacherregistered apprenticeship program (RAP) development and implementation. As teacher RAPs continue to expand, this resource offers strategies for EPPs to lead the way in co-designing teacher RAPs.

regional education agency and receive support and guidance as they progress toward earning their teaching credentials. The specific structure and requirements of registered teacher apprenticeship programs can vary depending on the institution offering them (Goldhaber et al., 2020).

New York's Classroom Academy transformed its two-year residency model into a teacher registered apprenticeship program in 2019. Collaboration with the New York State Department of Labor and New York State Education Department enables Classroom Academy to allow district/employers to partner with multiple EPPs and provides students an annual stipend of \$22,000 along with \$5,000 per year in college tuition assistance, addressing a major financial barrier for students of color.

18. Provide students support for licensure acquisition and testing.

Teacher certification tests can serve as a significant barrier for candidates of color. These tests often contain culturally biased content and language that may be unfamiliar to candidates of color, leading to lower passing rates compared to their White counterparts (Achinstein & Ogawa, 2016; Darling-Hammond et al., 2009). Additionally, candidates of color are more likely to come from lower-income backgrounds, which can limit their access to resources such as test preparation materials and courses. Universities can play an important role in supporting candidates of color in licensure acquisition and testing. For example, EPPs can provide targeted resources and support for test preparation, including workshops and tutoring services, to help candidates overcome any knowledge gaps and cultural biases in the testing process.

For example, Tennessee State University developed a Praxis lab designed to assist teacher candidates in their preparation for Praxis exams and edTPAs. The lab is supervised by graduate students from ethnoracially diverse backgrounds who not only provide academic support but also create a sense of community and mentorship. These labs serve as more than just preparation spaces; they foster a supportive environment where teacher candidates, particularly candidates of color, can find guidance and connect with peers and mentors throughout their journeys toward becoming educators.

Conclusion

EPPs play a vital role in enhancing the student-teacher race match in Illinois. By actively participating in the reform process and implementing carefully selected strategies, EPPs can potentially enhance the recruitment and retention of candidates of color within their programs and the teaching profession as a whole. The selection of strategies aligns with a comprehensive commitment to effecting systemic change, encompassing a dedicated process and commitment to transforming systems.

Resource Highlight:

Education Preparation Provider **Enrollment Diversification** Guidebook: Diverse Pipeline Pilot 2021-22 supports EPPs and their institutions to design and implement an enrollment diversification strategy to substantially increase the number of teacher candidates of color graduating each year.

Bibliography

- Achinstein, B., Ogawa, R. T., Sexton, D., & Freitas, C. (2010). Retaining teachers of color: A pressing problem and a potential strategy for "hard-to-staff" schools. *Review of educational research*, 80(1), 71–107.
- Advising Success Network. (2021). Academic advising as a tool for student success and educational equity. National Resource Center for The First-Year Experience & Students in Transition, University of South Carolina.

 https://www.advisingsuccessnetwork.org/wp-content/uploads/ASN CaseStudies Advising.pdf
- Anderson, M. D. (2015, August). Why schools need more teachers of color—for White students. https://www.theatlantic.com/education/archive/2015/08/teachers-of-color-whitestudents/400553/
- Barnett, E. A., Parra, E. E., & Wimer, C. (2013). *Dual enrollment programs and courses for high school students*. mdrc.
- Barr, A., & Castleman, B. (2017, October). *The bottom line on college counseling* [Unpublished manuscript]. Texas A&M University.

 http://people.tamu.edu/~abarr/BL shell 10 17 2017.pdf
- Berrigan, A., & Schwartz, S. (2000). *Urban Teacher Academy Project Toolkit: A Guide to Developing High School Teaching Career Academies*.
- Bettinger, E., Long, B. T., Oreopoulos, P., & Sanbonmatsu, L. (2012). The role of application assistance and information in college decisions: Results from the H&R Block FAFSA experiment. National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Bonner, F. A. III. (2018). The role of mentorship in retaining students of color in higher education. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice, 20*(4), 393–412. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1212852.pdf
- Bowen, W. G., Chingos, M. M., & McPherson, M. S. (2009). *Crossing the finish line: Completing college at America's public universities*. Princeton University Press.
- Bragg, D. D. (2007). Teacher pipelines: Career pathways extending from high school to community college to university. *Community College Review*, *35*(1), 10–29.

- Brantlinger, A. M., & Grant, A. A. (2022). The first-school retention of Black and Latinx community-insiders and elite college graduates: Implications for the recruitment, selection, and training of urban mathematics teachers. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, 30(111), 1–25.
- Britton, T. (2022, July). *Dual enrollment: Increasing college access and success through opportunities to earn college credits in high school*. mdrc. https://www.mdrc.org/publication/dual-enrollment-increasing-college-access-and-success-through-opportunities-earn-college#_edn2
- Carver-Thomas, D. (2018, April). Diversifying the teaching profession: How to recruit and retain teachers of color. Learning Policy Institute.

 https://learningpolicyinstitute.org/sites/default/files/product-files/Diversifying Teaching Profession REPORT 0.pdf
- Center on Great Teachers and Leaders. (n.d.). The equitable access toolkit, culturally responsive hiring practices: Self-assessment tool. https://gtlcenter.org/learning-hub/equitable-access-toolkit
- Chamberlain, A. W., & Parnell, A. (2022, April). *Advising as a strategy for achieving equitable student outcomes*. mdrc. https://www.mdrc.org/publication/advising-strategy-achieving-equitable-student-outcomes
- Chapman, C., & MacDonald, D. (2010). *Diversifying the teacher pipeline: An overview of recruitment practices and their implications for diversity*. American Association of Colleges for Teacher Education.
- Connecticut State Department of Education. (n.d.). Creating a district plan to increase the racial, ethnic and linguistic diversity of your educator workforce: Hiring and selection guidebook. https://portal.ct.gov/-/media/SDE/Talent Office/HiringAndSelectionGuidebook.pdf
- Darling-Hammond, L., Garcia, D., & Hyler, M. E. (2020). *New research suggests ways to improve every stage of diverse teachers' careers* [Blog post]. New America.

 https://www.newamerica.org/education-policy/edcentral/new-research-suggests-ways-to-improve-every-stage-of-diverse-teachers-careers/
- Darling-Hammond, L., Meyerson, D., LaPointe, M., & Orr, M. T. (2019). Preparing teachers for deeper learning. *Education Policy Analysis Archives*, *27*(63).

- Darling-Hammond, L., Wei, R. C., Andree, A., Richardson, N., & Orphanos, S. (2009). Professional learning in the learning profession. Washington, DC: National Staff Development Council, 12.
- Dee, T. S. (2004). Teachers, race, and student achievement in a randomized experiment. *Review of economics and statistics*, 86(1), 195–210.
- Dynarski, S. (2015). Closing the gap: The effect of a targeted, tuition-free promise on college choices of high-achieving, low-income students. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, *37*(1), 4–31.
- Education Trust—New York. (2017, October). See our truth: The state of teacher and school leader diversity in New York and why it matters for students, educators, and our future. https://seeourtruth-ny.edtrust.org/
- Egalite, A. J., Kisida, B., & Winters, M. A. (2015). Representation in the classroom: The effect of own-race teachers on student achievement. *Economics of Education Review*, 45, 44–52.
- Endo, R. (2022). Beyond "good-faith" efforts: Diversifying the faculty ranks in teacher education through equity-conscious recruitment practices. *Action in Teacher Education*, *44*(3), 181–195. https://doi.org/10.1080/01626620.2022.2058641
- Espinosa, L. L., Turk, J. M., & Taylor, M. (2011). From equity talk to equity walk: Implementing programs to diversify the workforce. *Equity & Excellence in Education*, 44(1), 76–94.
- Fenwick, L. T. (2022). *Jim Crow's Pink Slip: The Untold Story of Black Principal and Teacher Leadership.* Harvard Education Press.
- Fermanich, M., & Finster, M. (2023). *Improving the pipeline: Strategies for recruiting teacher residency candidates* [Brief]. Region 5 Comprehensive Center Network. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED626575
- Flores, B. B., Clark, E. R., Claeys, L., & Villarreal, A. (2007). Academy for teacher excellence: Recruiting, preparing, and retaining Latino teachers through learning communities. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 34(4), 53–69.
- Gasman, M., & Conrad, C. (2015). Recruiting and retaining teachers of color: Lessons learned from minority-serving institutions. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 66(4), 375–389.

- Gershenson, S., Hart, C. M., Hyman, J., Lindsay, C., & Papageorge, N. W. (2018). *The long-run impacts of same-race teachers* (No. w25254). National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Gershenson, S., Hart, C. M., Hyman, J., Lindsay, C. A., & Papageorge, N. W. (2022). The long-run impacts of same-race teachers. *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy*, *14*(4), 300–342.
- Goe, L., & Roth, A. (2019). Strategies for supporting educator preparation programs' efforts to attract, admit, support, and graduate teacher candidates from underrepresented groups. Research Memorandum No. RM-19-03). Princeton, NJ: *Educational Testing Service*.
- Golash-Boza, T. (2016, June 9). The effective diversity statement. *Inside Higher Ed*.

 https://www.insidehighered.com/advice/2016/06/10/how-write-effective-diversity-statement-essay
- Goldhaber, D., & Mizrav, E. (2021). *The" Prospective" Teacher Pipeline: Simulation Evidence on Levers to Influence Teacher Diversity*. Research Brief. CALDER Policy Brief No. 28-1121.

 National Center for Analysis of Longitudinal Data in Education Research (CALDER).
- Goldhaber, D., Krieg, J. M., & Theobald, R. (2020). Exploring the impact of student teaching apprenticeships on student achievement and mentor teachers. *Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness*, 13(2), 213-234.
- Grooms, A. A., Mahatmya, D., & Johnson, E. T. (2021). The retention of educators of color amidst institutionalized racism. *Educational Policy*, *35*(2), 180–212.
- Harper, S. R., Newman, C. B., & Quaye, S. J. (2016). Student engagement in higher education: Theoretical perspectives and practical approaches for diverse populations. Routledge.
- Hoffman, L., & Nixon, J. (2018). Dual enrollment programs: Participation and outcomes. *Educational Researcher*, 47(2), 109–121.
- Holland, C., Westwood, C., & Hanif, N. (2020, September 28). Underestimating the relationship between academic advising and attainment: A case study in practice. *Frontiers in Education*, 5. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/feduc.2020.00145/full
- Hurtado, S., Milem, J. F., Clayton-Pedersen, A. R., & Allen, W. R. (1998). Enhancing campus climates for racial/ethnic diversity: Educational policy and practice. *The Review of Higher Education*, *21*(3), 279–302. https://www.doi.org/10.1353/rhe.1998.0007

- Illinois Educator Preparation Profile. (n.d.), https://www.isbe.net/Pages/eppPublic.aspx
- Ingersoll, R. M., May, H., & Collins, G. (2022). Five findings on teacher diversity. *Educational Leadership*, 80(2), 40–43. https://repository.upenn.edu/gse-pubs/580
- Institute of Education Sciences. (n.d.). *Strategies for recruiting and retaining teachers of color*. https://ies.ed.gov/ncee/edlabs/regions/west/Ask/Details/107
- Jackson, A. P., & Acker, K. L. (2015). Creating and supporting first-generation college students: A practical guide for academic advisors. Routledge.
- Kalamkarian, H., & Johns, L. (2013). Financial aid works: A review of research on the effectiveness of need-based financial aid. Lumina Foundation.
- Kim, N., Hodge, L., & King, S. (2022, November 17–20). *Recruiting and retaining minoritized preservice teachers: Critical resistors* [Paper presentation]. North American Chapter of the International Group for the Psychology of Mathematics Education (PME-NA 44), Nashville, TN, United States.
- Lashley, C., Ross, D. D., & Blount, A. (2018). Addressing the teacher shortage crisis in high-needs schools through early outreach and recruitment. *The Journal of Negro Education*, 87(1), 35–49.
- Love, B. L., & Serpell, Z. (2016). Cultivating culturally responsive teacher preparation programs. *Journal of Teacher Education*, *67*(3), 208–217.
- Ma, J., & Baum, S. (2016, April). *Trends in community colleges: Enrollment, prices, student debt, and completion* [Research brief]. The College Board.

 https://research.collegeboard.org/media/pdf/trends-community-colleges-research-brief.pdf
- Mauldin, R. L., Barros-Lane, L., Tarbet, Z., Fujimoto, K., & Narendorf, S. C. (2022). Cohort-based education and other factors related to student peer relationships: A mixed methods social network analysis. *Education Sciences*, *12*(3), 205.
- Marchitello, M., & Trinidad, J. (2019, March). *Preparing teachers for diverse schools: Lessons from minority serving institutions*. Bellwether Education Partners. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED596443.pdf

- Mason, S., Cole-Malott, D. M., Teoh, M., Ravenell, A., Ek-Mekki, S., Seaton, K., & Woldeyohannes, M. (2021). *To be who we are: Black teachers on creating affirming school cultures*. Teach Plus and the Center for Black Educator Development. https://teachplus.org/teachplus-cbed-tobewhoweare
- McGee, E. O., & Bentley, L. (2017). Inclusive excellence and diversity in teacher education and preparation: A review of the research. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 68(2), 99–111.
- Milner, H. R. IV, & Ladson-Billings, G. (2008). Recruiting and retaining teachers of color: A review of the literature and a framework for future research. *Education and Urban Society*, 40(5), 536–558.
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2014). *Dual enrollment programs and courses for high school students at postsecondary institutions: 2010-11*. U.S. Department of Education.
- Region 8 Comprehensive Center Network. (2021). *The power of teacher diversity: Fostering inclusive conversations through mentoring*. https://region8cc.org/resource/power-teacher-diversity-fostering-inclusive-conversations-through-mentoring
- Rogers-Ard, R., Knaus, C. B., Epstein, K. K., & Mayfield, K. (2013). Racial diversity sounds nice: Systems transformation? Not so much: Developing urban teachers of color. *Urban Education*, 48(3), 451–479. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1006480
- Rosinger, K. O., Sarita Ford, K., & Choi, J. (2021). The role of selective college admissions criteria in interrupting or reproducing racial and economic inequities. *The Journal of Higher Education*, *92*(1), 31–55.
- Schmitz, H. P., & Tyler, K. M. (2007). Increasing diversity in education: Recruitment and retention strategies for minority teachers. *Educational Research Quarterly*, *31*(3), 36–49. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ796424.pdf
- Schwitzman-Gerst, T. (2022). "We still miss some of them": A DisCrit analysis of the role of two 4-year Hispanic serving institutions in racially diversifying the K–12 teaching force.

 Teachers College Record, 124(7), 82–104.
- Serpell, Z., & Love, B. L. (2013). The importance of recruiting and retaining teachers of color in urban schools. *Urban Education*, 48(4), 585–615.
- Strayhorn, T. L. (2015). *College students' sense of belonging: A key to educational success for all students*. Routledge.

- Swalwell, K., & Turner, E. (2019). Creating culturally responsive and antiracist teacher education: A review of the literature. *Review of Educational Research*, 89(5), 746–781.
- Teranishi, R. T., & Flores, M. T. (2018). Supporting Asian American and Pacific Islander students in higher education: Strategies for success. Stylus.
- Talbert-Johnson, C., Foxx, C. M., & Clay, S. M. (2018). Affinity groups in graduate preparation programs: Building community and supporting persistence for students of color. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 69(2), 167–181.
- Toldson, I. A., & Pearson, D. (2019). *Strategic priorities for historically black colleges and universities with teacher preparation programs*. State Higher Education Executive Officers Association.
- U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, Common Core of Data (CCD), 2017-18.
- U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, National Teacher and Principal Survey (NTPS), 2017-18.
- Villegas, A. M., & Irvine, J. J. (2010). Diversifying the teaching force: An examination of major arguments. *The Urban Review*, 42, 175–192.
- Wallace, D., Bol, L., Hall, K., & Cousins, E. (2022). Black male educators matter: Modeling and expectations in K–12 settings. *Journal of African American Males in Education*, 13(2), 1–19.
- Witmer, M. M. G., & Wimer, J. W. (2022). Expressions of authentic voice: Urban high school students' perceptions of teaching as a career choice while participating in a pipeline program for aspiring teachers of color. *Education & Urban Society*, *54*(8), 969–991.
- University of Washington. (n.d.). *Staff diversity hiring toolkit*. https://www.washington.edu/diversity/staffdiv/hiring-toolkit/
- U.S. Department of Education. (2016a). Advancing diversity and inclusion in higher education:

 Key data and highlights focusing on race and ethnicity and promising practices.

 https://www2.ed.gov/rschstat/research/pubs/advancing-diversity-inclusion.pdf
- U.S. Department of Education (2016b). *Fulfilling the promise, serving the need: Advancing college opportunity for low-income students*.

 https://www2.ed.gov/about/overview/focus/advancing-college-opportunity.pdf

- U.S. Department of Education. (2016c). *The state of racial diversity in the educator workforce*. https://www2.ed.gov/rschstat/eval/highered/racial-diversity/state-racial-diversity-workforce.pdf
- Yarnell, L. M., & Bohrnstedt, G. W. (2018). Student-teacher racial match and its association with Black student achievement: An exploration using multilevel structural equation modeling. *American Educational Research Journal*, 55(2), 287–324.
- Yomtov, D., Plunkett, S. W., Efrat, R., & Marin, A. G. (2017). Can peer mentors improve first-year experiences of university students? *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice*, 19(1), 25–44. https://doi.org/10.1177/1521025115611398

Appendix: Selected Strategy Reflection Notetaking Tool

Use the table below to review the evidence-based strategies listed in this document within the context of your institution. The purpose of this tool is to encourage your institution to consider how these strategies would contribute to improved teacher recruitment and retention of students of color in the educator preparation program. This means thinking about whether this strategy is already in place, whether it could be enhanced, and whether it could be evaluated. Complete the table below. Reflect on each prompt in the first row given where you are with the strategy in your school.

| Strategy: | What about this strategy is aligned to the core reasons our program is not attracting or retaining candidates? | What would be the cost of the strategy? Where can we get funding? | Who can lead the implementation of this strategy? |
|-----------|--|---|---|
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |

| Strategy: | What about this strategy is aligned to the core reasons our program is not attracting or retaining candidates? | What would be the cost of the strategy? Where can we get funding? | Who can lead the implementation of this strategy? |
|-----------|--|---|---|
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |

About the American Institutes for Research®

The American Institutes for Research® (AIR®), which was established in 1946, is a nonpartisan, not-for-profit institution that conducts behavioral and social science research and delivers technical assistance both domestically and internationally in the areas of education, health, and the workforce. AIR's work is driven by its mission to generate and use rigorous evidence that contributes to a better, more equitable world. AIR's headquarters are in Arlington, Virginia, and it has offices across the United States and abroad. For more information, visit AIR.ORG.



AIR® Headquarters 1400 Crystal Drive, 10th Floor Arlington, VA 22202-3289 +1.202.403.5000 | AIR.ORG

Notice of Trademark: "American Institutes for Research" and "AIR" are registered trademarks. All other brand, product, or company names are trademarks or registered trademarks of their respective owners.

Copyright © 2024 American Institutes for Research®. All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, distributed, or transmitted in any form or by any means, including photocopying, recording, website display, or other electronic or mechanical methods, without the prior written permission of the American Institutes for Research. For permission requests, please use the Contact Us form on AIR.ORG.